2001

General Insurance Company of America v.  
Carnicero Dynasty Corporation, Wendell L.  
Butcher; Irene B. Butcher; Christ L. Stanfield; Janis  
B. Stanfield; Ben D. Issac; and Lila O Issac : Brief of  
Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

Suit by bonding company against alleged indemnitor who signed indemnity agreement after bond had been issued.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

District Court refused amendment to assert defense of lack of consideration and awarded judgment against indemnitor for \$44,600.00.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Order reversing judgment and dismissing case as to defendants Butcher, or in the alternative remanding the case for a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff (a bonding company) obtained general indemnity agreements from defendants Stanfields and Isaacs (Nov. 1968) the officers of defendant Carnicero (a contractor), (Ex. 2-P). No indemnity agreement was asked for or received from defendants Butcher at that time. (R. 120, par. 4; 376, lines 20-24). Thereafter plaintiff issued a bid bond (R. 382) and payment and performance bonds (Jan. 6, 1969 - Ex. 4-P, R. 353) for Carnicero in connection with the construction of a post office. *Over four months later* plaintiff requested and received an indemnity agreement (Ex. 1-P) from defendants Butcher (R. 299-302; 359; 376-387) (who was property manager of Carnicero, but was not an officer, director or stockholder of that organization) (R. 270-271). At the time when Butchers executed the indemnity agreement (Ex. 1-P) the plaintiff had already issued the bond (Ex. 4-P) and was legally bound to third parties thereon (R. 371, 380, 382). Plaintiff gave no consideration for the Butcher indemnity agreement and did not change it's position in reliance upon that agreement, (R. 120).

At the conclusions of the evidence the Court summarized the evidence concerning the Butcher indemnity agreement in part as follows (R. 417):

"... More than four months after the bond is issued, . . . after presumably an application for a bid bond is made and a bid bond issued, the Indemnity Agreement obtained from the others and from the cor-

poration and the bid awarded and the bonds are issued. After all of that takes place, *the insurance company as an obvious afterthought, goes out through their agent Mills, and he gets the signature of Mr. & Mrs. Butcher on that type of an Indemnity Agreement.*

Now, the defense that Mr. Barker raises here is lack of consideration. . . ." (emphasis added)

Butcher did not recall that his indemnity agreement was signed after the bond had been issued (R. 212), was not aware that the indemnity agreement was unenforceable for lack of consideration, did not disclose those facts to his attorney, (R. 421) who accordingly did not assert lack of consideration as a defense in their answer. Butchers' attorney first became aware that the Butcher indemnity agreement lacked consideration when the indemnity agreement (Ex. 1-P) and the bond (Ex. 4-P) were placed into evidence by plaintiff during the trial (R. 421). Butchers then moved the Court for dismissal of plaintiff's complaint since the indemnity agreement upon which the suit is based was not supported by consideration (R. 410, 417-421), and to amend their answer to conform to the evidence adduced by plaintiff at the trial, to assert the defense of lack of consideration (R. 122, 418-421). At the request of the Court briefs were submitted by plaintiff (R. 131-146) and by Butchers (R. 122-130), and thereafter the Court entered a memorandum decision denying Butchers' motions and awarding judgment against Butchers (R. 147-149).

The Court's refusal to permit Butchers to assert the



defense of lack of consideration appears to be grounded on the fact that a careful reading of plaintiff's answers to Butchers' interrogatories and the exhibits attached thereto would have disclosed that the defense of lack of consideration was available to Butchers (R. 148) four months before trial, but that since Butchers failed to observe that fact and to make a motion to amend during the four months between the time when plaintiff answered Butchers' interrogatories and the trial date, that plaintiff was somehow prejudiced in preparing to meet that issue at the trial (R. 131-146 & 148).

Plaintiff's counsel claimed that he was prejudiced in meeting the absence of consideration defense because of the long period of time that passed between commencement of the lawsuit and trial, and argued that evidence which might have been available to meet that issue, had it been raised earlier, was not available at time of trial (R. 141, 144-145), claiming that an employee of plaintiffs Denver office had left their employ, and that the local agent of plaintiff had destroyed his files. However, plaintiff's witnesses (Mills, the agent who wrote the bond) established that three or four different people in the Denver office worked on the bond involved in this case, that whoever happened to be in when he called would pull the file and help him, that there was no continuity or follow through by a particular employee in issuing the bond (R. 382-384), and that the local agent (Mills) knew in 1970 that there were problems with the bond (R. 383), but that he did not keep his files since "The company has copies of everything." The long de-

lay in bringing this matter to trial was the fault of plaintiff who for almost two years failed to request a trial date (R. 47) and failed to respond to discovery (R. 61, 67, 69, 70), which resulted in cancellation of four scheduled trial dates, (R. 48, 67, 70, 72-74, 77, 110).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### BUTCHERS HAVE NEVER BEEN LEGALLY BOUND TO INDEMNIFY PLAINTIFF

Since plaintiff was bound on it's bond before it obtained Butchers' signatures on the indemnity agreement and since plaintiff gave no consideration for that indemnity agreement, Butchers never became contractually obligated to indemnify plaintiff for it's losses on the Carnicero bond. A promise of indemnity is void for want of consideration where made after the execution of the sureties' undertaking. *Thompson v. Moe*, 265 P. 457 (Wash); *O'Neill v. Mutual Life Ins. Co. of New York*, 172 P. 306, 51 U. 592; *Manwell v. Oyler*, 361 P.2d 177, 11 U2d 433, *Latimer v. Holladay*, 134 P.2d 183, 103 U. 152. 47 Am Jur 2d Suretyship, Sec. 229, Page 153; *Jones v. Shorter*, 1 Ga. 294; *Vansant v. Gardner*, 240 Ky 318, 42 SW2d 300; 17 Am Jur 2d Contracts, Sec. 86, 397.

There can be no contract where consideration is lacking. This differs from failure of consideration where there was in fact a contract but the promised performance fails. Williston, Contracts, 3d ed Sec. 119A. A determination of this matter on the merits would be a

holding that Butchers are not now and never have been liable to plaintiff. To hold Butchers liable would be to confer a windfall upon plaintiff who wrote the bond, accepted a premium for the bond, and became contractually obligated on the bond without any guarantee or agreement from Butchers. (R. 371, 380, 382). If plaintiff is denied recovery against Butchers it will be in no worse position that it was in at the time that it accepted the premium and wrote the bond. Plaintiff has not changed its position or parted with anything of value in exchange for the Butcher indemnity agreement and it would be unconscionable to shift plaintiff's loss (which it assumed in exchange for a premium) to Butchers who received no benefit or consideration for the execution of the indemnity agreement.

It would have been better business judgment for the plaintiff to have required additional security before electing to issue the bond, but having made a business judgment to issue the bond without additional security the plaintiff is now bound by that decision and should be limited to recovery on the security which it bargained for in exchange for the bond.

Even if Butchers had paid plaintiff the amounts claimed to be due under the Butcher indemnity agreement, Butchers would have been entitled to recover those payments back from plaintiff upon discovery of the fact that the indemnity agreement was not supported by consideration. See Restatement Security, Sec. 152(b) (ii).

## POINT II

PLAINTIFF FAILED TO MEET IT'S BURDEN OF  
PROOF AGAINST BUTCHERS

Plaintiff incorrectly alleged in it's complaint (without pleading dates) that the bond was issued in consideration of the Butcher indemnity agreement (R.3). Butchers did not recall and their attorney did not become aware that the indemnity agreement was executed after the bond was issued until plaintiff placed them in evidence at the trial, (R. 212, 421), and accordingly in their answer Butcher did not deny plaintiff's incorrect allegations of consideration. (R. 8-9).

Plaintiff's pleadings and defendants' failure to deny established a prima-facia case against Butchers until the evidence which plaintiff itself introduced (bond, ex. 4-p and indemnity agreement, ex. 1-p) superseded the general allegations of consideration contained in plaintiff's pleadings, and established conclusively that plaintiff was not entitled to recover against Butchers because the contract relied upon by plaintiff in it's lawsuit (Ex. 1-P) was void and unenforceable since not supported by consideration.

Plaintiff simply introduced evidence which established conclusively that it was not entitled to recover against Butcher. The fact that Butchers or their attorney might have learned that the contract lacked consideration earlier so as to have alleged that defense in their answer, by an amendment to their answer, by motion,

etc. does not change the basic fact that *Butchers are not now and never were bound on the contract of indemnity*, nor change the fact that plaintiff itself produced the evidence which conclusively established that plaintiff had not met it's burden of proving that it was entitled to a judgment against Butchers.

The burden of proof of all elements necessary to establish it's case was upon plaintiff. Had plaintiff relied upon the failure of Butchers to deny consideration and had it not introduced evidence which disproved the false consideration allegation in plaintiff's complaint, the plaintiff would have been entitled to win. Having elected to produce documents into evidence which disproved their general allegations of consideration, plaintiff is bound by those documents. The risk of non-persuasion never shifts from plaintiff as to proof of the essential elements of it's claim, including the element of consideration. Plaintiff prima facia satisfied it's burden of proof by Butchers failure to deny that the contract was supported by consideration, however that prima facia satisfaction of the burden of proof was overcome by direct evidence, and that direct evidence also conclusively established that plaintiff had not met it's risk of non-persuasion (whcih never shifts from plaintiff). See *Kartchner v. Horne*, 262 P.2d 749, 1 U.2d 112; *In re Swan's Estate*, 293 P.2d 682, 4 U.2d 277; *Peoples Finance & Thrift Co. v. Landes*, 503 P.2d 444, 28 U.2d 392; 29 Am Jur 2d Evidence, Sec. 123, 124, 125, 126, 128, 130, 142.

It is important to clearly distinguish the difference between an absence of consideration and a failure of consideration. Where this is no consideration there can be no contract, but where there is a failure of consideration there is a contract when the agreement is made, but because of some supervening cause the promised performance fails. Williston, Contracts 3d ed Sec. 119A. The burden of proving consideration is part of plaintiff's case, whereas if we were dealing with a failure of consideration situation the burden would be upon Butchers to plead and prove failure of consideration. See Rule 8(c), URCP; 29 Am Jur 2d Evidence, Sec. 142. Had plaintiff pleaded the date of the bond and the date of the indemnity agreement the complaint would have contained a "built-in" defense and would have been insufficient to entitle plaintiff to recover against Butchers. See 5 Wright & Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure, Sec. 1226, 1355 and cases there cited.

### POINT III

BUTCHERS ARE ENTITLED TO DISMISSAL UNDER RULE 41(b), URCP (PLAINTIFF HAS SHOWN NO RIGHT TO RELIEF)

Rule 41(b), URCP, reads in part as follows:

" . . . After the plaintiff, in an action tried by the court without a jury, has completed the presentation of his evidence the defendant, . . . may move for a *dismissal on ground that upon the facts and law the plaintiff has no right to relief. . . .*" (Emphasis added)

Introduction of the bond (Ex. 4-P) and the Butcher

indemnity agreement (Ex. 1-P) disclosed that the bond was issued before the indemnity agreement was signed, and that therefore it was without consideration and was unenforceable. Accordingly, Butchers are entitled to dismissal of plaintiff's complaint against them under Rule 41(b), URCP, and the entry of judgment against them was in error and should be reversed. *Gregory v. Denver & Rio Grande Western R. Co.*, 8 U.(2d) 114, 329 P.2d 407; *Winegar v. Slim Olson, Inc.*, 122 U. 487, 252 P.2d 205, 208; 76 Am Jur 2d Trial Sec. 1245. See also discussion under point II above distinguishing between absence of consideration (failure of plaintiff to sustain burden of proof of a valid enforceable contract) and failure of consideration (where a contract in fact existed but became unenforceable later by reason of failure of consideration, in which event burden of proof of failure of consideration is imposed upon defendant.) See Rule 8(c) and 12(h), URCP.

#### POINT IV

##### FAILURE TO DENY PLAINTIFF'S FALSE ALLEGATION OF CONSIDERATION WAS NOT A WAIVER BY BUTCHERS OF THE DEFENSE OF ABSENCE OF CONSIDERATION

A waiver is "The intentional or *voluntary relinquishment of a known right.*" Black's Law Dictionary, revised fourth edition, and cases there cited. It is undisputed that at the time Butchers attorney filed their answer neither he nor they were aware that the indemnity agreement sued upon was void for absence of consideration (R. 212, 421), and that when Butchers counsel be-

came aware of that fact he moved the court for dismissal of plaintiff's complaint and to amend the answer to conform to the evidence (R. 122, 410, 417-421). Since Butchers were not aware of the facts necessary to know that consideration was absent, there could be no waiver of the lack of consideration defense by not raising that defense in the original answer.

Plaintiff's counsel argued (R. 133) (apparently successfully R. 147-149) to the Court that absence of consideration is an affirmative defense which is waived if not asserted in the answer. Rule 8(c), URCP, lists various affirmative defenses which must be pleaded or they are deemed to be waived under Rule 12(h), URCP. One of the listed defenses is "failure of consideration." Failure to plead such an affirmative defense does not preclude proof of such a defense at a trial in all cases. See *Cheney v. Rucker*, 14 U.(2d) 205, 381 P.2d 86.

Counsel for plaintiff and the Court apparently failed to observe the distinction between absence of consideration (never was an enforceable contract) and failure of consideration (valid contract terminated because of subsequent failure of consideration). (See discussion under Point I above). Rule 8(c), URCP, requires an affirmative allegation only where the consideration fails, not where the consideration was wholly absent. *Zebod v. Hurst*, 65 Okla 248, 166 P. 99, 61 Am Jur 2d Pleading Sec. 160.

A denial by Butchers of the consideration allega-



tion in plaintiff's complaint would have violated the letter and spirit of Rule 11, URCP, (good ground to support pleadings). Butchers should not be penalized for honesty in their pleadings, and plaintiff should not be rewarded with an undeserving judgment because Butchers did not discover the falseness of the consideration allegations in plaintiff's complaint until contrary evidence was produced by plaintiff during the trial. Public policy should favor the pleader who honestly admitted that which he believed to be true. To hold otherwise would encourage denial of facts not really in dispute to avoid such pitfalls should evidence at the trial establish new facts as in our case.

The allegation of consideration in plaintiff's complaint was false. Plaintiff now seeks to take advantage of it's false pleading and it's own wrong by claiming prejudice because Butchers did not learn that it was false until trial.

#### POINT V

THE DEFENSE OF FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM FOR RELIEF UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED MAY BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME AT THE TRIAL

Rule 12(h), URCP, reads in part as follows:

"A party waives all defenses and objections which he does not present either by motion . . . or in his answer . . . , except (1) that *the defense of failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted*

*... may also be made by a later pleading, ... by a motion for judgment on the pleadings or at the trial on the merits, ... The objection or defense, if made at the trial, shall be disposed of as provided in Rule 15(b) in the light of any evidence that may have been received."* (Emphasis added).

Plaintiff's original complaint falsely stated that the indemnity agreement sued upon was executed in consideration of issuance of the bond (which in fact had already been issued), and accordingly appeared to state a claim for relief upon which relief could have been granted until contrary evidence was presented by plaintiff (Ex. 1-P & 4-P). In plaintiff's answer to Butchers' interrogatories (R. 79, Par. 1(b)(3) & 92) plaintiff disclosed facts which, if carefully studied, would have informed Butchers' counsel of the defense of absence of consideration (filed over a year late — about four months before the trial — R. 61 & 78). Plaintiff's pleadings were thereby amended or superseded by evidence of the actual facts, and it then first appeared affirmatively in the record that there was in fact no consideration for the indemnity agreement, and that plaintiff's complaint (as modified by answers to interrogatories and by actual evidence) did not state a claim for relief upon which relief could be granted. Under Rule 12(h), URCP, (quoted above), after the answers to interrogatories were in the record, (R. 78-106), Butchers were entitled, at their option, to either move to amend their answer to raise the defense of absence of consideration or to raise that defense at the trial. Butchers' counsel failed to

observe the facts showing lack of consideration in reviewing the answers to interrogatories and accordingly first raised the defense when plaintiff presented exhibits 1-P and 4-P into evidence at the trial, which procedure is expressly authorized by Rule 12(h), URCP, (quoted above). Rule 12(h), URCP, directs the Court to "dispose of" such a defense raised for the first time at trial under Rule 15(b), URCP. Rule 15(b), URCP, reads in part as follows:

*"When issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised by the pleadings. Such amendment of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment; but failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues. If evidence is objected to at the trial on the ground that it is not within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the pleadings to be amended when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits. The court shall grant a continuance, if necessary, to enable the objecting party to meet such evidence."* (emphasis added)

Rule 15(b), URCP, is modified by Rule 12(h), URCP, (quoted above), to add the proviso that if the de-

fense of failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted is raised at the trial, then that defense

“ . . . shall be disposed of as provided in Rule 15(b) in light of any evidence that may have been received.”

Accordingly, the defense of absence of consideration was properly first raised at the trial, and as provided in Rules 12(h) and 15(b), URCP, that defense is “ . . . *treated in all respects as if they (it) had been raised by the pleadings,*” particularly in view of the additional provision in Rule 15(b), URCP, that permits the Court to allow pleadings to be amended “ . . . *when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby . . .*” A determination of this case on the merits requires a determination that the indemnity agreement is void for absence of consideration and dismissal of plaintiff's claims as to Butchers. Justice requires that such an amendment of the pleadings be permitted.

In *Goeltz v. Continental Bank & Trust Co.*, 299 P.2d 832, 5 U.(2d) 204, the Supreme Court affirmed a denial of a motion to amend made at the trial, allegedly to conform to the evidence. In that case the Court found that the facts upon which the defense of statute of limitations was founded were well known and were pleaded, but that the pleading failed to assert that defense. In our case the facts were not known when the answer was filed, nor were those facts pleaded by plaintiff. In that case the Court also found that to defeat the plaintiff's

claim by the bar of the statute of limitations is not a determination of the case on its merits. In our case to defeat plaintiff's claim by reason of absence of consideration is in fact a determination of the case on the merits. See also *Meyer v. Deluke*, 23 U.(2d) 74, 457 P.2d 966, denying amendment where facts supporting defense of usury were known and pleaded without pleading the defense of usury.

When plaintiff introduced the bond and indemnity agreement into evidence (Ex. 1-P & 4-P) showing the absence of consideration, plaintiff by implication consented within the meaning of Rule 15(b), URCP, to a trial of that issue as though it had been raised by the pleadings and waived it's right to object to that defense being raised by Butchers. The material variance of the evidence from plaintiff's pleadings concerning consideration is sufficient to justify a nonsuit. *Vance v. Whalon*, 7 U. 44, 24 P. 672; 61 Am Jur 2d Sec. 366, 376 & 378.

#### POINT VI

PLAINTIFF WAS NOT PREJUDICED IN IT'S DEFENSE RE ABSENCE OF CONSIDERATION BY ANY ACT DONE BY BUTCHERS

The evidence which established the absence of consideration was received without objection from plaintiff, who itself presented that evidence (Ex. 1-P & Ex. 4-P). Rule 15(b), URCP, imposes a duty upon a party to object to evidence concerning issues not raised by the plead-

ings. Plaintiff is bound by the unfavorable aspects of the evidence which it produced. *Ray v. Consolidated Freightways*, 289 P.2d 196, 4 U.(2d) 137. Plaintiff cannot now escape the legal effect of that evidence.

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