2000

General Insurance Company of America v.
Carnicero Dynasty Corporation, Wendell L.
Butcher, Irene B. Butcher, Chris L. Stanfield, Janis B.
Stanfield, Ben D. Isaac, and Lila O. Isaac : Brief of
Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANTS BUTCHER ARE LEGALLY BOUND TO INDEMNIFY THE RESPONDENT AS FOUND BY THE TRIAL COURT.

The Butchers were told that before any bond could be issued on the post office job, indemnity would be required from all concerned. Wendell Butcher presented the agreements to his family for signature. He returned those signed by his children and their spouses but delayed in signing one himself. The bonds in the meantime were issued by the company to conform to the contract date and were delivered subject to his promise to give

the required indemnity. He was told of the need for the indemnity agreement prior to the bonds being issued and had agreed to supply the same. About four months after the bonds had been delivered, the bonding company then, through its agent, insisted that Mr. and Mrs. Butcher complete their agreement by signing the indemnification and returning it to the company. This was done by the Butchers without objection. About one year later, the project became bogged down in unpaid bills and the bonding company was required to take over and complete the job, including payment of the unpaid bills.

At the conclusion of the respondent's evidence, the Butchers attempted to amend their pleadings by alleging lack of consideration because of the variance in dates on the instruments. The trial court refused to allow them to do so and specifically found that the Butchers had promised, with the others, to give indemnification for the issuance of the bonds and although they did not actually sign their agreement until after the bonds had actually been delivered, such late signing did not invalidate their agreement. The court further found that there was consideration given by the insurance carrier for issuing said bonds and that the Butchers promised to indemnify if the bonds were to issue.

The court chose to believe the testimony of the agent that indemnification was requested prior to the issuance of the bonds.

An indemnity agreement signed after the execution and delivery of the bond has the same force and effect as if it were executed at the time the bonds were issued if there was an understanding between the parties. Where the indemnitee and the indemnitor agree that indemnity will issue if the company provides its bond, such agreement is binding. See Fidelity & Deposit Company of Maryland vs. O'Bryan et al (Kentucky), 180 Ky. 277, 202 S.W.645. In the O'Bryan case, the defendants agreed to provide indemnity in the event a bond was issued. However, the indemnity agreement was not signed until sometime after the bond had been issued. The Court of Appeals of Kentucky, in what appears to be the leading case on the subject, stated:

"We, therefore, have no difficulty in ruling that the bond of indemnity was executed simultaneously with the bond of the surety company, or at any rate that the bond of indemnity, although it may not have been finally executed and delivered until April, 1904 (several months later), was then fully executed and delivered pursuant to an agreement, made before or at the time the bond was made by the surety company, that the

bond of indemnity would be executed. It is immaterial which of these view is correct because if the bond of indemnity was executed and delivered simultaneously with the bond of the surety company, or was afterwards executed and delivered pursuant to an agreement or arrangement made between the surety company and the indemnitors before or at the time it signed Blackwell's bond, there was sufficient consideration for the execution of the bond of indemnity. In other words, the execution of a bond of indemnity subsequent to the execution of the original undertaking will have the same force and effect as if it were executed simultaneously with the original undertaking, if its subsequent execution was pursuant to an arrangement or agreement, between the indemnitee and the indemnitors, at the time or before the indemnitee became bound, that there should be executed to it a bond of indemnity." (Emphasis ours.)

See also 50 AmJur, Suretyship, Section 19, Page 914.

Therein, the author states:

"If the original contract is induced by the promise of one of the parties that he will obtain the signature of the person who subsequently signs a surety in pursuance of such agreement, no new consideration is necessary to support the latter's undertaking. In such case, the execution of the instrument by the surety relates back to and takes effect the same as if it had been coincidental with the execution by the original debtor. Often the language of the decision is broad enough to make a promise by the principal to procure any signer in general, rather than some particular signer, sufficient to remove the case from the operation of the general rule and, of course,

no new consideration is necessary if the signer signs in pursuance of his own previous promise to do so." (Emphasis ours.)

Other more recent cases following the O'Bryan case maintain the same sound position. See the case of Wagner vs. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company (Colorado), CCA 10th, 1965, 352 Fed.2d 410. In the Wagner case, the indemnity agreement was not signed and delivered until at least two months after the bonds were delivered. The Court stated:

"The basis of liability for the judgment against all of the appellants is an indemnity agreement which was furnished to the surety company. This agreement was not executed and delivered until at least two months after the bonds had been delivered. The primary defense was lack of consideration in that the instrument was not a part of the original transaction and was not an inducement for the issuance of the bonds."

The Court then stated that it was the finding of the trial court that the defendants agreed, when they applied for the bond, that they would issue indemnity agreements in consideration for the company providing the bonds. The Appellate Court thereafter stated:

"The rule is well stated in Fidelity & Deposit Company of Maryland vs. O'Bryan, 180 Ky. 277 the execution of a bond of indemnity subsequent to the execution

of the original undertaking will have the same force and effect as if it were executed simultaneously with the original undertaking, if its subsequent execution was pursuant to an arrangement or agreement, between the indemnitee and indemnitors, at the time or before the indemnitee became bound, that there should be executed to it a bond of indemnity."

The Circuit Court further stated:

"The evidence is adequate to support the findings that the indemnity agreement was contemplated by the original undertaking and did not require new consideration."

See also the case of Engbrock vs. Federal Insurance Company (Texas 1967), CCA 5th, 370 Fed.2d 784. In the Engbrock case, the indemnity agreement was not signed and delivered to the surety for over four months after the bonds were issued.

The Fifth Circuit Court stated:

"In the trial against Engbrock, as an individual, a question was raised in regard to an agreement under which Engbrock was to indemnify surety for losses sustained under bonds issued to Encon on the Eagle Lake job. Engbrock contends that the indemnity agreement fails for lack of consideration because he signed the agreement four months after the bond had been issued. The trial judge recognized this contention would have force if the signing of the agreement had constituted a new promise by Engbrock. But, to the contrary, the judge found that prior to the execution of the bonds in May, 1962, Engbrock had promised orally to execute the

indemnity agreement before or contemporaneously with the execution of the bonds. This finding is supported by ample evidence In such circumstances, the execution of the indemnity agreement is in pursuance and consummation of a prior arrangement between the parties and it is not necessary that the written promise carrying into effect the prior oral promise to execute the writing be supported by new or additional consideration."

See also an annotation on the subject at 167 ALR 1203, wherein the author states:

"Where antecedent promises to execute a collateral or supplemental undertaking with respect to a principal contract is made directly by the one who becomes the undertaker, as an inducement to the execution thereof, it is sufficient to supply the necessary legal consideration for the undertaking, in whatever form the promise may be evidenced."

The evidence is clear that by the testimony of the agent and appellants Butcher, indemnity was to be required of Butcher and the other persons involved with the corporation because of the fact that the corporation was new and lacked financial stability. Based upon Butcher's promise of indemnity, together with the other defendants herein, the bonds were issued. The court so found and entered judgment accordingly. Had the Butchers not intended to give indemnity for the issuance of said bonds, they should have so stated upon applying for the bonds. Had they

done so, undoubtedly, the bonds would have been rejected because of the instability of the company making application. Instead, the opposite occurred. They not only understood that they were required to give indemnity but Mr. Butcher obtained the signatures of the other parties himself and he later on also signed an indemnity agreement without objection. Undoubtedly, the agent was tardy in not following up the signing of the Butcher indemnity agreement at an earlier date but such did not invalidate the intent of the parties or their agreements. The court's findings are amply supported by the evidence and should not be disturbed.

POINT II

APPELLANTS BUTCHER FAILED TO RAISE THE DEFENSE OF LACK OF CONSIDERATION IN THEIR ANSWER AND SHOULD BE PRECLUDED FROM NOW SO DOING.

Lack of consideration, being an affirmative defense, should have been pleaded in the initial answer which was not done (Rule 8c, U.R.C.P.). Had Mr. and Mrs. Butcher honestly believed that there was no agreement in advance of the issuance of the bonds to give indemnification, they certainly would have informed their counsel of such information and would have refused to give indemnity when so requested. The court found from the evidence that the various information concerning the date of the bonds

and the date of the Butcher indemnity agreement was available to them months before the matter came to trial. In spite of this, however, no such defense was ever raised. Wendell Butcher signed the contractual paper and the bond that was prepared by the Government and therefore, had to have been aware of the date of its execution. He also knew that when he finally got around to signing his own indemnity agreement, several months had elapsed since the bond had been issued. If it were not his intent to give indemnity in consideration for the issuance of said bonds, he certainly was obligated to raise such an objection rather than sign. The court so found. The court further found by the evidence, as testified to by Mr. Mills and by Mr. Butcher, that indemnification was discussed and was a prerequisite before the company would issue its bond to this newly activated and apparently somewhat financially unstable corporation. The facts clearly indicate that both Mr. Mills so testified as did Mr. Butcher.

Had it been the intention to raise such a defense, the same should have been done when it was raised by defendants Isaac. When they denied the indemnification agreement, immediate discovery was commenced. After seeing their indemnity agreement and having their memories refreshed, the Isaacs then admitted

signing the agreement. This issue was then put to rest immediately. It was obvious that the Butchers executed the agreement of indemnity as orally agreed upon.

Nevertheless, the Butchers requested the court to allow an amendment of the pleadings at the conclusion of the respondent's evidence and at a time when it was virtually impossible for the respondent to have rebutted said evidence as it had not been an issue in the case until that time and there was no way witnesses could be made available. This court correctly stated the general principles in the case of Goeltz vs. Continental Bank & Trust Company, 5 Utah 2d 204, 299 P.2d 832. In this case, it was claimed by the defendant that a motion to amend its answer to include the defense of the Statute of Limitations should be allowed. The Court stated:

"Here defendant seeks leave to amend after all the evidence is in, even though all of the facts on which this defense is based have been fully known by the bank since the original certificates were deposited with it in March of 1947 and no new evidence was discovered during the trial which made the defense available where it had not been available under the facts known by the bank in the first instances."

The Court then properly ruled that such an amendment should not be permitted.

In the instant case, the insurance agent, Joe Mills,

testified that at this late date, he could not recollect all of the details as to the documentation of the file by correspondence, etc. as he did not have the facilities to keep records for such a period of time. It was also pointed out to the court that certain people involved in the Bonding Department of the respondent company were no longer employed by it and their whereabouts was unknown at the conclusion of the trial.

This Court aptly presented the plaintiff's position in its commentaries in the case of Buehner Block Company vs. Glezos, 6 Utah 2d 226, 310 P.2d 517. In interpreting the Rules of Civil Procedure bearing upon the right to amend pleadings, this Honorable Court stated:

"Notwithstanding all of our efforts to eliminate technicalities and liberalize procedure, we must not lose sight of the cardinal principle that under our system of justice, if an issue is to be tried and a party's rights concluded with respect thereto, he must have notice thereof and an opportunity to meet it." (Emphasis ours.)

Respondent herein respectfully submits that the Court correctly concluded that the evidence clearly indicated that the bonding company asked for indemnification from the Butchers and other parties of the corporation as a prerequisite to its issuing its bonds. The record shows, as was found by the court, that Butcher, as did the other defendants, agreed to give this

indemnification at the time the bonds were requested.

Clearly, where a party fails to deny a material allegation of a complaint and fails to plead an affirmative defense, it can only be interpreted by the court and the opposite party that such is not an issue in the case and treat it accordingly. No party to a law suit should be required to anticipate that its opponent will move to amend his pleadings after all of the evidence has been presented, allowing no opportunity to overcome the allegations contained within the proposed amendment at the conclusion of trial. It is respectfully submitted that the court properly so ruled.

CONCLUSION

The appellants herein have failed to make an affirmative showing of error. The evidence, and all inferences that fairly and reasonably may be drawn therefrom, and viewed in a light most favorable to the respondent, support the court's Findings of Fact and Judgment herein and should not be disturbed.